Excerpts about Miami burial ground in the Spy Run district
from a 1912 Fort Wayne Sentinel article

THE GUVE O GAEF UTTE TR 1 LOATED L0 ROSPCT AVENDE

From “The Grave of Chief Little Turtle is Located Along Prospect Avenue”
The Fort Wayne Sentinel, March 9, 1912, Page 7
https://www.newspapers.com/clip/4911884/grave-of-little-turtle-1912-

fw/

This article was published shortly before Little Turtle’s grave was found in
a lotin the 600 block of Lawton Place later in 1912. Pegged to the
centennial of Little Turtle’s 1812 death, it evaluated various spots around
Fort Wayne where local lore claimed the gravesite was located. The
writer concluded there was good evidence that it was several hundred
feet east of Spy Run Avenue, which turned out to be correct, but thought
the grave was most likely along Prospect Avenue , which is about 1,000
feet south of Lawton Place.

rjtion of the grave of Little Turtlo as
many old-time authorities locate it.
_ The aite is on a somewhat elevated
tract of ground, conslderable higher than
the land east of it, néar to the avenus,
and within a few feet of the front of
the lot. Awar back in 1812, with forost
trees all around in the vieinity and not
far from the liouse where he had lived
for a time before his death, it would
seem to have been an ideal spot for the
burial of the chiof. That many Indians
were buried In that immediate vicinity
there is no doubt. Tn the exeavafions
for residences built there many Indian
bones have been exhumed, and with them
a vast array of relics—tomahawks,
swords, guns, nistols, beads, etc.

Buch is the confidence of Mr. Willinms
that this is the location of the Turtle

Describing one rumored spot at 633 Prospect Avenue and talking about it
with Henry W. Williams, “an authority on historic sites” in the city, who
said he had been told where the grave was by the late Louis Peltier, a
pioneer resident of Fort Wayne who was born in 1813, the article
observes:

“That many Indians were buried in that immediate vicinity there is no
doubt. In the excavations for residences built there many Indian bones
have been exhumed, and with them a vast array of relics —tomahawks,
swords, guns, pistols, beads, etc.”

Alon[ Spy Run Avenue

For some years past Marshal Comy
I mineavish, whose home is at 1610 Spy
Run avenne, has made the claim that the
grave of Little Turtle Is on his lot, |
cated in the vard in front « his resi
dence his would plaee it farther north
bv about two squares than the | tfon
given by Mr. William and somo d
tance . weat, nearer to the entrance 0
l;“‘\"f\“ |ﬂ'>. being on the north of
Anderson avenue, a new street
was put through only a few yea A
To make way for this street an ol
brick house was torn down, a house that
was long known as Little Turtle'
Lodge.” Tt never belonged to the ¢
but was built by Captatn Hackley, the
son-in<law of Captain Wells, who \
brother-in:law of Little Turt! It
ing for Anderson. avenue, " which ran
through the old archard. manv Indin
graves were found In fact, close 1« '
around the home of Mr. Comminenvia!
was one of the burial grounds of the In
dinns He has a Iarge collection of In
dian relics, stone arrow heads tomn
hawks, stone pipes, old flintloc)
bends, earrings pottary ol tnken
from these graves

A man named Marshal Commineavish, who lived at 1610 Spy Run Avenue
(between what is today Anderson Avenue and Tennessee Avenue, so a
block closer to the actual grave than Prospect Avenue) thought the grave
was instead on the north side of his property. When Anderson Avenue
had been built through a former orchard on the tract a few years earlier,

“...many Indian graves were found. In fact, close to and around the home
of Mr. Commineavish was one of the burial grounds of the Indians. He has
a large collection of Indian relics, stone arrow-heads, tomahawks, stone
pipes, old flintlock guns, beads, earrings, pottery, etc., taken from these
graves.”




to you."

Trom Theae grave

A number of pioneers, among homy
Mr. Commineavish savw were Lon
Bourie and Mre. MeDunicls. have pointed
out the spot in Wis front var near the
north side of it, as the gray of Lit
TFurtle

Mr, Commineavish Is the fon «
vidual owner of the propert Fhe tea (
of whiely it wan n part ean rom Cap |1
tain. Wells to Caploin Hackley, who Tia |
sold it to Mr. Anderson. Captain Hack: | {
loy had told Mr. Anderson whersa the |,
grave of Little Turtle was, and Mr., An f
derson told Mr. Commineavish soon after
he had purchased the lots, which was
twenty-three vears ago {

“Mr. Anderson toll said Mr. |1
('llllvll\llh.’l‘ ] thmt Turtle wn
buried.in the front lose to a tree ]!
that stood near to the Soon after,]!
wards [ ecut the tree do Che stump |1
I left standing He told me of othey
graves and wWherever I dug -1 #lway
found the remams of lodiaus and Indian
i reli nt the points he indieated. T am
cortain that the grave of Little Turtle is
| in my front yard st the point he ind

wted an rhich I am now pointing out

Commineavish said he had bought his property around 1889 from a Mr.
Anderson, who had in turn bought it from Captain James Hackley Jr.
(Little Turtle’s daughter Sweet Breeze married Captain William Wells,
who owned what became the Spy Run district. One of their daughters,
Rebecca, married Hackley, and they apparently inherited part of it after
Wells was killed later in 1812. Hackley appears to have died in 1826, so
Anderson would have talked with him at least 63 years earlier than when
he sold the tract to Commineavish.)

Commineavish told the reporter that Anderson had
“told me of other graves and wherever | dug | always found the remains
of Indians and Indian relics at the points he indicated.”
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GRAVE OF LITTLE
TURTLE LOCATED
A BY LM, STUUUER

on Thlt one of the Indian graves u’n-
'd covered In the construction of a drain
i¥:|In the rear of the residence of D, |
RO George W. GiHle, 634 Lawton place,
he | Was that of Little Turtle, one of the
eg | Most celebrated chieftans In Ameri-
ve | oD history., has been proved oon-
clusively through the efforts of Jacob .
he M. Stouder, present owner of the | ——
skull, trinkets, weapons and other
articles found In the grave. Mtnr-lT‘
ed ney Howard Hanthorm and Charles
l‘ H. Worden, vice-president of the
or | First Natlonal bank, and others In-
of {terested In the early history of Fnrtl

Wayne.

e Not until these gentlemen were ab-
solutely sure that thelr theory was
true did they make the startling an-
nouncement and they are now pre-
pared to furnish irrefutable proofs.
It I= to Mr. Stouder Lthat the major
portion of the credit for the Impor-
tant discovery is due, It was he whe

| found the relics after they had ‘be-

come scattered and lain In obscurity
and who at the Arst sight of them
saw the possible connection with the
great Miaml warrfor and set lboutt
to obtain proof for this theory. That
sy | he has been successful s admitted

_|by everyone to whom the evidence

. 'has been submitted, l
I8 In & locked case In the First Na- |
tional bank there I8 on exhibition
18T [the skull of the noted Indlan, the
of sword that history says Was pre-
sehled to him by General George
ick | Washington when the chlef went to
the capital w plead with the gov-
'“. ernment to pass lawg making It Im-
of possible for lilguor to be oblained
by his tribesmen; four large sllver
WO | CToRses, Lwo which are known to
have been hima by the Jesuilt
~ |fathers at troit and Pigus, Ohlo,
he and the ear rings, medal, arm bands,
beads and trinkets shown In the only
wer | existl picture of him. The medal
was presented the chief at the treaty
vaas | of Greenville, Ohlo. |

an Little Turtle died on July 14, 1812,
and was buried some place along St
Ar. {Joseph's river. There was no perma-
nent marking for the grave, which '
€88  was In an Indian burying ground, |
and for nearly half a century there |
has been none who could point nut]m
-|/the exact location of the last qTA
ing place of the repowned red mlll tlor
to |After he had spent many weeks as- nan
ot sembling his Mr. SBtouder |last
10 | evening accidentally came upon some- | ==
de- |thing to - which he attaches as much
vilue &e any other link In the con-
hat | clusive chain that he has constructed.
While en route to his home on a

‘ :‘e‘f'n- rlnnuu mention
t

m«.
est

in|while o
'“;I:dm'bnwnl portion of

hat |the Spy Run district. an old mII!Im
sod [named Hedges, a ploneer of tluch

Mr.

county, whn hnd been present at

funeral Turtle, visited . T
¥htlandg pul.nt'd nn to him as nearly as| ) @
ar, {he conld recollect the exact spot |
ney | Where Little Turtle’s body had been | ™

interred. Although he had not Heen
Ing to the ldcality since Spy Run avenue M

ba- |was bullt up, Mr. Schiefer went with

res. | Mr. Stouder to show him the

rop | Indieated by Mr. Hedges and In the

|1|- darknesa took him to a point within
100 feet of the place where the

lll- graves were found.

The Indian burying ground, in which| *
Little Turtle's grave was discovered,
ro-|was unearthed by a gang of men em- |

of | plaved by Albert and Charles Y.och-
wi- |ner, contractors, who were hullding

do(n house for Dr. Gillle. In digging
ath|tha cellar bones of Indians were
run |found and In constructing a drain
182, [from the site of the house to the| A
‘al-|river & grave was opened that was | cyn
car|apparently that of an Indian of Im- |4y
han | Portance—doubtieas a chief. The all. M
de- | ver crosses, the sword and other "
sen | Ornaments were kept by the Lochner | 10t
the | brothers, while the skull was given If &
ex- | PY them to Dr. Merle . Ivine, who tem
the [Teset In the jaws and the teeth that'
183 bhad fallen out and were found In the kno
I“.* grave. The balance of the contents | ig |
al-|2f the tomb were scattered about|dra
0o the city and It was with considerable | i,
oy diMenity and no little expense that ' ma
'ru Mr. Stouder collectea them after he yvol
ndp learned of thelr existence two months | has

ngEn. |
dy. The Journal-Gazette will on Sun- hut
P'd day morning devote an entire paze  oon
OFt [{n the Alscovery and will present Mr. | she
“E= | Bipuder's proofs In full, together with der
= 1his own story of how he obtained | priy
themn, and an engrossinge story of thelsiaf
dliite and accomplishments of Little | nes
Fy® | Turtle. complled by Attdarney Howard F
Fall | Hanthorn Accompanvine the artl- | two
M lele will he shown photographse of g |
il ench of the collection. noo
—————— — E
1(3rn
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THE GRAVE OF LITTLE TURTLE.

HE grave of Little Turtle, the noted Miami chief, has long

been lost to knowledge, but it is thought that it has at last been
found and identified beyond all doubt. The chieftain was buried
somewhere on the Fort Wayne site in July, 1812, his death having
occurred July 14, and the finding of the grave was within a few
days of being an exact century. Mr. J. M. Stouder, to whom be-
longs the credit of identifying the grave, published the following
account in the Fort Wayne Journal-Gazette of August 4. By
letter Mr. Stouder informs us that the spot he describes was, per-
haps, the last cemetery of the Miamis at Fort Wayne, and that
more than twenty-five bodies have been exhumed in that locality.
The skull found with the identifying relics has been sent to the
Smithsonian Institute for examination, and on its return will be
returned to the grave, and steps will be taken toward erecting a
fitting monument to the memory of the chief.

AccouNT BY J. M. STOUDER.

July 4, 1912, will hereafter be memorable to the citizens of Fort
Wayne and Allen county. On that day Albert and Charles Loch-
ner uncovered the grave of Little Turtle, the great Miami war
chief.

The brothers had contracted to build a house for Dr. George
W. Gillie on Lawton place, and in digging the cellar uncovered
several Indian graves. Noticing that whatever was in the graves
was appropriated by the laborers, the contractors called off the
crew and with the assistance of Dr. George W. Gillie dug the
drain in which the grave of Little Turtle was found.

The finders had no idea of the identity of the body. The skull
was carefully kept and presented to Dr. M. W. Ivins, dentist at
1118 Rivermet avenue, who had requested the Lochner brothers
to save a good specimen for him. The balance of the remains
were scattered and carried away by the curious as mementos.

Around the neck of the chief was found the string of silver
beads and crosses and in the few remaining tufts of hair on the
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back of the skull was the string of white shell beads. The hair
was also tied with a buckskin thong, and, from the description
given by the Lochner brothers was well preserved. The vermil-
lion war paint was beneath the chieftain’s knees, the solid silver
armlets on his arms, the anklet and the famous sword, the gun and
the remnant of the pistol were at his side. The various other imple-
ments had been placed in various other parts of the grave and had
probably become disarranged in the digging of the drain. On the
breast were the silver discs, believed to be medals. These were fas-
tened together by means of a buckskin thong and are shown in the
collection just as they were found.

About a month ago I had occasion to visit the home of Albert
Lochner and asked to see the Indian relics that I knew he had in
his possession, as I am always interested in such discoveries. I
was immediately struck by the apparent wealth and importance of
the find and began an investigation as to the identity of the person
in the grave. Early in my research work I became convinced that
Albert and Charles Lochner and Dr. Gillie had discovered the
grave of Little Turtle. I am greatly indebted to Miss Eliza
Rudisill, Mr. Howard Hanthorn and Mr. Charles H. Worden for
the assistance they have given me in identifying the grave of the
greatest chief of his time.

Articles taken from the grave are: Eight silver bracelets, two
silver anklets, one heavy metal bracelet, three silver medals, on
the inside of one of which is a small remnant of canvas; four
silver brooches, one pair of silver earrings and six pendants, one
string of silver beads, twenty-three silver crosses, each one inch in
length ; four silver crosses, each six inches long; one sword, with
silver hilt, wrapped with gold braid, which we are certain is that
presented to the chief by General George Washington ; one string
of white shell beads, four metal buttons, one small pocket knife,
one large clasp knife of very old design, one drinking cup, one
metal spoon, one pair of shears, one hammer, one gun barrel,
from which rotted portions of the stock fell when it was lifted
from the grave; one pair of bullet moulds, one flint lock, the only
remains of a pistol; two flints for gun and pistol, three large
knives, one pair of steel spurs, one ax, one tomahawk, one copper
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kettle, containing when found beans and corn which went to a fine
powder when exposed to the air, and the skull of the great red
leader.

That within so comparatively short a period of time as a hundred
years the grave of this illustrious man should have been forgot-
ten seems strange, and now that the grave has been found the
spot should be appropriately marked by the patriotic people of
Indiana.

I have been asked how 1 know so positively that this is the
grave of Little Turtle. Bryce, in his History of Fort Wayne,
says that Little Turtle was buried with the sword presented him
by General Washington and the medal given him at the treaty
of Greenville. I have them both, together with all of his weapons
and ornaments.

Jacob Piatt Dunn, secretary of the Indiana Historical Society,
says that Little Turtle was buried on the bank of St. Joseph’s
river and when the interment was made it was considerably north
of what was then Fort Wayne.

The final proof came to me Thursday evening. W. D. Schiefer,
of the Schiefer shoe store, volunteered the information that while
he resided on the old Barnett place in 1875 a man named Hedges,
who had been present at the burial of Little Turtle, had pointed
out to him the exact location of the grave as well as the old man
could remember. Without any suggestions from me, and, al-
though he had not been in that locality since Spy Run was laid
out, Mr. Schiefer took me to within one hundred feet of the place
where the grave was uncovered. From Mr. Schiefer I have the
folowing statement:

“Fort Wayne, Indiana, August 1, 1912.
“I was personally acquainted with a pioneer resident of Allen
county named Hedges, who was present at the burial of Little
Turtle, and while living on the Barnett place in 1875, Mr. Hedges
visited me and pointed out to me as near as he could recollect the
place where Little Turtle’s body had been interred on the edge
of the farm along the river. W. D. SCHIEFER.”
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This pamphlet is published by the Allen Coun-
ty-Fort Wayne Historical Society.

For authenticity all quotations have been pre-
sented in original form.

Committee on Publications

Frederick J. Reynolds, chairman
Alene Godfrey, editor

JAMES STOUDER SWEET

James Stouder Sweet, Ph. D., is a grandson
of Jacob M. Stouder and the son of Mrs. Warren V.
Sweet and the late Warren V. Sweet. Dr. Sweet is at
present engaged in editorial work on the Encyclopedia
Britannica in Chicago. His assignment is with the
law, political science, international relations, Euro-
pean, Russian and Near Eastern History, and Geog-
raphy articles. He spent six years in the Library of
Congress doing research in United States History. It
was during this time that he unearthed the Smithso-
nian correspondence about Little Turtle. He received
his Ph. D. degree in European History in 1955 from
the University of California, Los Angeles.

The following article, written especially for
the Allen County - Fort Wayne Historical Society at
the request of Bessie K. Roberts, has been a labor
of love by a man whose youth in Fort Wayne was
enriched by his contact with his adventurous grand-
father.



When Jacob M. Stouder, local historian and
Indian enthusiast, identified the grave of Little Turtle
on July 4, 1912, he was continuing the hobby he had
taken up as a young man. In 1885, at the age of twen-
ty-four, he had gone west to the Dakota Territory to
try his hand at ranching. It was at that time he had
made the acquaintance of Sitting Bull, the Sioux Medi-
cine man, for whom he felt great admiration. When
he returned to Fort Wayne in 1890 to make his per-
manent home, the spell of his Indian friendships still
held him.

"July 4, 1912, " Stouder announced in the FORT
WAYNE JOURNAL-GAZETTE on August4, 1912, "will
hereafter be memorable to the citizens of Fort Wayne
and Allen County. On that day Albert and Charles
Lochner uncovered the grave of Little Turtle, the
great Miami war chief."”

The INDIANA QUARTERLY MAGAZINE OF
HISTORY carried Stouder's story of the find in the
issue of September, 1912. The two accounts were
substantially the same.

The Lochner brothers had contracted to build
a house for Dr. and Mrs. George W. Gillie on Law-
ton Place, Fort Wayne, and in digging the cellar had
uncovered several Indian graves. Noticing that what-
ever was in the graves was being appropriated by the
workmen, the contractors called off the crew. Later
with the assistance of Dr. Gillie they dug the drain in
which the grave of Little Turtle was found.

" About a month ago," Stouder reported in the
Fort Wayne paper, 'l had occasion to visit the home




of Albert Lochner and asked to see the Indian relics
that I knew he had in his possession, as I am always
interested in such discoveries. I was immediately
struck by the apparent wealth and importance of the
find and began an investigation as to the identity of
the person in the grave. Early in my research I be-
came convinced that Albert and Charles Lochner and
Dr. Gillie had discovered the grave of Little Turtle."

Among the articles found in the grave was a
sword given the chief by the United States Government
during the administration of President George Wash-
ington. The sword and other Little Turtle relics are
now in the collection of the Allen County-Fort Wayne
Historical Society in Swinney Park.

Assisting Stouder in attempting to identify the
remains were Miss Eliza Rudisill, Howard Hanthorn,
and Charles H. Worden.

Around the neckof the chief was found a string
of silver beads and crosses. Vermilion war paint
was found beneath his knees, solid silver armlets on
his arms, an anklet, and the famous sword at his
side. Various other implements had been placed in
other parts of the grave, Stouder reported, and had
probably become disarranged in the digging. On the
breast were several silver discs believed to be med-
als. These were fastened together by a buckskin
thong.

Items taken from the grave were: eight silver
bracelets, two silver anklets, one heavy metal brace-
let, three silver medals, four silver brooches, one
pair of silver earrings, six pendants, one string of
silver beads, twenty-three silver crosses one inch in
length, four silver crosses--each six inches long, a
string of white shell beads, four metal buttons, a
small pocket knife, a large clasp knife, a gun barrel
--from which rotted portions of the stock fell when it

was lifted from the grave, a pair of bullet moulds, a
flint lock--the only remains of a pistol, two flints for
gun and pistol, three large knives, a pair of steel
spurs, an ax, a tomahawk, and a copper kettle con-
taining beans and corn which went to a fine powder
when exposed to the air.

The sword, of which Stouder remarked, ". . .
we are certain is that presented the chief by General
George Washington," had a silver hilt, and was
wrapped with gold braid.

"That within so comparatively a short time as
a hundred years the grave of this illustrious man
should have been forgotten seems strange,' said
Stouder, "and now that the grave has been found, the
spot should be appropriately marked by the patriotic
people of Indiana."

The idea of marking the grave was one of
which Stouder had already proposed to the United
States Government in a letter to the Smithsonian In-
stitute in Washington on July 26, 1912. He was un-
able to interest anyone, and eventually placed a small
marker at the burial place at his own expense.

"I have been asked how I knew so positively
that this is the grave of Little Turtle," he continued.
"Brice, in his HISTORY OF FORT WAYNE, says that
Little Turtle was buried with the sword presented to
him by General Washington and the medal given him
at the Treaty of Greenville. I have them both, to-
gether with all his weapons and ornaments."

Jacob Piatt Dunn, secretary of the Indiana His-
torical Society, says that Little Turtle was buried on
the bank of the St. Joseph River and when the inter-
ment was made it was considerably north of what was
then Fort Wayne.

The final proof came to me Thursday evening.



W. D. Schiefer of the Schiefer store, volunteered the
information that while he resided on the old Barnett
place in 1875 a man named Hedges, who had been
present at the burial of Little Turtle, had pointed out
to him the exact location of the grave as well as the
old man could remember. Without any suggestions
from me, and, although he had not been in that local-
ity since Spy Run was laid out, Mr. Schiefer took me
to within one hundred feet of the place where the
grave was uncovered. From Mr. Schiefer I have the
following statement:

Fort Wayne, Indiana,

August 1, 1912

I was personally acquainted with a pioneer

resident of Allen County named Hedges, who was
present at the burial of Little Turtle, and while living
on the Barnett place in 1875, Mr. Hedges visited me
and pointed out to me as near as he could recollect
the place where Little Turtle's body had been interred
on the edge of the farm, along the river.

W. D. Schiefer.

So far as Stouder and most residents of Fort
Wayne were concerned, the grave was definitely iden-
tified. But somehow the skull found in the grave had
disappeared. What happened to it is still a mystery.
Stouder sent what he thought was the Little Turtle
skull to the Smithsonian Institution and confidently
awaited the report of the trained ethnologists. His
correspondence with the Smithsonian, recently found
filed away in the Archives of the Bureau of American
Ethnology on the creaky floor of the Smithsonian main
building in Washington, D. C., forms an interesting
complement to his report in the JOURNAL-GAZETTE
and the INDIANA MAGAZINE OF HISTORY. It con-
cerns the finding of a skull which turned out to be
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Reprinted by permission of Florence Subzda

Marker over Little Turtle's burial place




that of a young Indian woman.

DR. GILLIE'S RECOLLECTION

Dr. Gillie recalls:

It was July 4th; and we had taken our two girls
to visit their grandparents in Columbus,. Ohio.

When we got back the next day, it was awfully
quiet around there, and a lot of bones were lying
about. It was a week later that I found out:about the
graves. Then we began digging. We dug up: the whole
back yard, all but the barn which had a cement floox.
We found sixteen graves. Each body had a string of
beads or a cross with it. But none with the lavish
number of crosses, ornaments of silver and shells,
knives, utensils, tomahawk, parts of guns,: and the
swordwith silver hilt wrapped with gold braid. There
is mo doubt in ‘my mind. - It was the grave of Little
Turtle,

Shortly before his letter announcing discovery
of the Little Turtle remains appeared in the JOUR-
NAL-GAZETTE, Stouder had written the Smithsonian
Institution in Washington concerning the find. On
July 29, 1912, F. W. Hodge, the ethnologist in charge
at the Smithsonian, replied asking for a list of the
items found in the grave. To Stouder's inquiry as to
whether the Government wished to erect a marker,
he said that it could only be accomplished by a spe-
cific appropriation for the purpose by Congress. He
suggested that the local patriotic organizations be
approached. At the same time he wrote Stouder,
Hodge wrote Jacob F. Dunn, author of TRUE INDIAN

STORIES, in Indianapolis, enclosing copies of the
correspondence.

On August 1, Stouder replied as follows:

Little Turtle's grave was found in the bank of
the St. Joseph River about 1/2 mile north of the
junction of the St. Joseph and St. Mary's rivers.
It was found during the erection of a house for present
owner of lot by Chas. & Albert Lochner. They had
excavated for cellar and found an Indian burying
ground and had uncovered seven or eight skeletons
with few or no ornaments, and thinking that there
might be something of importance found called off the
men who were digging drain from cellar and cistern,
and on July 4th, 1912, uncovered the grave of Little
Turtle. They carefully preserved its contents putting
them in a box and storing them in a cellar. The skull
from the grave they presented to a friend'and the in-
cident was closed as' far as they were concerned.
Mention was made of the find but no investigation was
made. About three weeks ago the writer first saw
the contents of the grave and was struck with the ap-
parent wealth of man who had all these things buried
with him and began an investigation.

I found that Little Turtle had been buried on
the bank of St. Joseph River north of Ft. Wayne with
all his ornaments, medals, weapons, and sword, no
one knew where--and as our oldest citizens only knew
that he was buried somewhere on Wells Reserve but
not the spot we had to make quite an investigation.
We sec’d. more information in regard to location of
grave from Jacob Dunn's book, TRUE INDIAN STO-
RIES, published by INDIANAPOLIS SENTINEL than
any other source, although Brice's HISTORY OF FT.
WAYNE gives an interesting account of his burial,
the honors paid his memory and: contents of grave.




Little Turtle must have been a patriarchin the
Catholic Church as I understand the style crosses
worn by him were only used by those in. authority.
His skull should be photographed and a cast made of
it, as it betokens a man of rare executive and spirit-
ual power.

What Stouder believed to be the skull of Little
Turtle and the relics, he stated, were on exhibit in
the First National Bank of Fort Wayne.

Stouder continued,

As Little Turtle was the friend of Genl. Wash-
ington and the practical center round which all the In-
dian affairs of the N. W. Territories revolved, it
seems to me that the importance of this find should
be recorded and suitable steps taken to preserve this
most valuable collection and to mark the spotin which
his body was buried with the honors of war by the
U. S. garrison then at Ft. Wayne.

After noting that he was enclosing a list of the
contents of the grave, Stouder stated that the grave
was located on lot #28, of the Lawton Place addition,
Fort Wayne, Indiana, owned by Dr. and Mrs. George
W. Gillie.

In his reply, Hodge enclosed a reproduction
of a portrait of Little Turtle about which Stouder had
asked and requested that Little Turtle's skull might
be sent the Smithsonian, suggesting that it be placed
on exhibit in the U. S. National Museum and promis=
ing that a plaster cast would be sentin return. Stoud-
er replied that he had the skull and would send‘it, but
thought that ". . . if we could prevail upon the au-
thorities to do so it would be a fine thing to have it
here in Ft. Wayne with a monument.” He enclosed a

copy of the FORT WAYNE JOURNAL-GAZETTE of
August 4 containing illustrations of the grave con-
tents. On August 12 Stouder forwarded the skull by
Adams Express and requested a plaster copy for him-
self. Several days later, Hodge replied that Dr.
Hrdlicka of the National Museum, a specialist in
physical anthropology, would examine the skull upon
his return from Europe. A memorandum from Hodge
to W. H. Holmes, head curator of anthropology in the
U. S. National Museum, a branch of the Smithsonian,
stated that while plaster copies were being made, a
duplicate could be prepared for Dr. Harris Hawthorne
Wilder of Smith College, who desired to make some
experiments inrestoring the soft tissues by a process
employed in Europe.

So far everyone believed that the skull that
had been sent to Washington was that of Little Turtle.
Stouder, of course, had not been present when the
skull and relics had been removed. According to the
JOURNAL-GAZETTE letter of August 4, the Lochners
and Dr. Gillie had presented the skull to Dr. M. W.
Ivins, a dentist, of 1118 Rivermet Avenue, who had
requested the Lochners to save a good specimen for
him. It was doubtless this skull which Stouder sent
to Washington.

On October 4, Hodge wrote that Dr. Hrdlicka
had returned, ". . . and much to my surprise, re-
ports, after an examination of the skull supposed to
be that of Little Turtle, that it is the skullof a woman
of 22 or 23 years of age. The sex and age character-
istics of the cranium are so well marked that Dr.
Hrdlicka regards these conclusions as beyond ques-
tion. Doubtless the young woman had been interred
near Little Turtle's grave, " he remarked.

On the first of November, Stouder replied:




I have made a pretty thorough investigation
and find that four graves were opened in a space of
about twelve feet and that there were four skulls taken
out, some of which were broken. The skull sent you
was the one the Lochners said had come out of grave,
but Mr. Chas. Lochner said that especial attention
was not paid to it. The three remaining skulls were
placed back in trench and buried. When you consider
that the trench was only 18" wide you can readily see
that it is easy for them to be mistaken. When oppor-
tunity presents itself I am going to try to open the
grave again. They describe the leg bones found in
this grave as being very heavy and as they are in
there yet it will be a comparatively easy matter to
get them. Could you identify skull by any picture ex-
tent as we would have to send all three?

Hodge's response requested that if the graves
were reopened all the bones should be sent. The
graves were not reopened.

The denouement came on December 14, 1912,
when the FORT WAYNE DAILY NEWS carried the
following story:

STOUDER'S STEALTHY SILENCE: OR, WHEN IS
AN INDIAN CHIEF NOT AN INDIAN CHIEF?

Late in July, 1912, one night when the moon
was shining brightly and most folks were in bed, Mr.
Stouder gathered a little corps of workmen and began
to dig up the ground at the rear of the Lawton Place
lot, above the grave. (Certainly a new, if not an
overly imaginative, version of the affair.) The earth
was soft, and it was not long before one of the spades
struck something solid. By the light of the moon
Stouder examined the skull and found it to be without
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doubt the skull of an Indian. Little Turtle's grave
discovered at last! Victory!

A morning newspaper published a full-page
feature story with pictures of J. M. Stouder, Little
Turtle, the famous sword, and a plat showing the lo-
cation of the grave on Lawton Place. The story was
copied in brief form by press bureaus, and papers all
over the country.

All relics were gathered together in a glass
case, and placed in the corridor of the First National
Bank, where they were viewed by hundreds of people.
The greatest interest was exhibited, and the local
historians assured Mr. Stouder that his name would
godown inhistory as one of the greatest investigators
and Indian relic experts of all times.

Backed by an enthusiastic bunch of local anti-
quarians, a movement was started and soon gained
great headway to erect a monument for Little Turtle
over the grave that he occupied during all of those
years. The enthusiasts even went so far as to pre-
pare an inscription which was to be placed on the
monument. Considerable money had been promised.

About this time the indignation of the anti-
quarians and especially of J. M. Stouder was aroused
when some miserable, low-down, pessimistic cuss
suggested that the skull of Little Turtle be sent to the
bureau of ethnology at Smithsonian Institution, Wash-
ington for verification. Not that there could be any
doubt about the matter, but why not have the official
recognition of the monument. Perhaps Congress
would make an appropriation for a monument.

So, stated the NEWS, the skull was boxed and
shipped off.

As far as the Fort Wayne public knows, that
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was the end of the affair. So far as the public knows
J. M. Stouder is still the much-to-be envied anti-
quarian and the world-famous discoverer of the eter-
nal resting place of that divine Indian, Little Turtle.
So far as the public knows, the sword that was found
in the grave is the original blade with which George
Washington slashed his enemies during the wars in
which he took an active part. No one seems to notice
that the exhibition of relics in the First National Bank
had been quietly removed. No one seemed to think it
strange that Mr. Stouder suddenly shut up like a clam,
and looked askance at any one who mentioned Little
Turtle. Apparently, no one thought to erect a monu-
ment over the grave of Little Turtle on Lawton Place.
And here is the answer. . . .

A letter from T. W. Hand, ethnologist in
charge at the Smithsonian, to the FORT WAYNE NEWS
was then reproduced. It repeated the information
which had already been sent Stouder by Hodge: the
skull was that of a young Indian woman.

Stouder wrote the Smithsonian on December 16
enclosing a copy of the NEWS article, stating some-
what plaintively, "In furnishing copy for publication
would it not be proper to furnish all the correspond-
ence, as I have made no attempt to conceal any of the
facts in relation to this question? it seems that some
of the brethren are unduly worked up. Immediately
on receipt of your letter, I informed all the parties
that were concerned and of course they were under
no obligation not to tell about it."

Hodge replied, "I see no objection to the pub-
lication of the correspondence relating to the finding
of the skeletons with their accompanying objects. As
the site of the grave of Little Turtle was approxi-
mately known to you, the findings of the skeletal re-

12

—_——

mains and of the numerous objects associated there-
with made the mistake a most natural one."
So ends the file of 1912 letters in the Smith-

sonian.

It can be said that more of mischief than mal-
ice prompted the NEWS article.

Stouder kept the Little Turtle mementoes for
several years. Illustrations of some of them appeared
in 1917 in Calvin Young's book on Little Turtle, pub-

. lished by the Sentinel Printing Company, Indianapolis.

The Young book also contained a description of a trip
the author made with Stouder on August 4, 1913, to
visit Kil-so-quah, a granddaughter of Little Turtle,
at Roanoke, Indiana. Kil-so-quah at the time was
103 years old. She reminisced about her early life
in the Fort Wayne area. She appeared to believe that
Dr. Gillie and the Lochners had in fact discovered
her grandfather's grave.

Young decided that the objects being held by
Stouder really belonged to Little Turtle, although he
noted that he had come prepared to disbelieve. Dur-
ing the twenties the artifacts were placed in the Allen
County-Fort Wayne Historical Museum, where they
may be seen at the present time. Mr. Stouder had
been an active member of the society, and had served
as a member of the board of directors. He was evi-
dently well-acquainted with Bert J. Griswold, author
of the PICTORIAL HISTORY OF FORT WAYNE, who
mentions trying to identify the site of Miami Town,
and the old French village, in Stouder's company.
Griswold also furnished details on Stouder's connec-
tion with the Little Turtle story.



GREAT MIAMI WAR CHIEF

Little Turtle (Me-she-kin-no-quah), great war
chief of the Miamis, born on the Eel River to the
west of the present site of Fort Wayne in 1752, led
the Indians in battles against Generals Harmar, St.
Clair, and Wayne in the early days of the Republic.

Following St. Clair's defeat at the site of Fort
Recovery, Ohio, in 1791, Little Turtle appears vainly
to have counseled that his people seek a peaceful set-
tlement with the United States government. At the
battle of Fallen Timbers, he led part of the Indian
forces. He was among those who signed the Treaty of
Greenville. 1In 1797 he visited Philadelphia, then the
national capital, and met President George Washing-
ton. He subsequently succeeded in dissuading the
Miamis from joining Tecumseh's attack on the fron-
tier settlements. He died in 1812,

His greatest exploit was his leadership of the
Indian forces that defeated General St. Clair. This
humiliating defeat led to the first Congressional in-
vestigation in United States history and the better or-
ganized expedition of General Anthony Wayne which
finally defeated the Indians in northwestern Ohio.

Little Turtle's son-in-law, William Wells, a
white man who had been kidnapped in his youth by the
Indians and raised as one of them, also played an im=
portant role in early Fort Wayne history, acting as
the local Indian agent for several years.

JAKE STOUDER'S INDIAN FRIENDS

How did Stouder acquire this Indian mania?
The only Indians in Fort Wayne by the time he arrived
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as a youngster with his family from Millersport,
Ohio, about 1877, were probably cigar store Indians.

His hobby can be explained. After clerking in
the Pfeiffer and Schlatter Hardware Store, he had
gone to the Dakota Territory, in 1885, to try his hand
at ranching on the Missouri River flats fifteen miles
northeast of Linton and south of Bismarck. His ranch
was in the midst of Sioux Indian country. It had been
about seven years since the Sioux had annihilated the
force of General Custer on the Little Big Horn in
southern Montana. By now they were back on their
reservation. Among them was the Sioux medicine
man, Sitting Bull. During his stay in Dakota, Stouder
visited Sitting Bull, whom he had always admired.

Stouder returned to Fort Wayne in 1886 long
enough to marry Mary Ellen Taylor, daughter of John
Taylor, an English-born civil engineer, several of
whose post Civil War real estate developments appear
on Fort Wayne Plat maps. Their first surviving son,
George, was born in Dakota. George still has the
tiny pair of moccasins made for him by one of his
father's Sioux friends.

The Sioux Indians from their reservation
across the Missouri River were frequent visitors at
the ranch in which Stouder and Dr. Walter Langtry,
a Fort Wayne veterinarian, boyhood chum, and Spy
Run neighbor, were partners. Mrs. Stouder, how-
ever, found it difficult to get used to their Indian
neighbors. Early adventure stories of Indian captiv-
ities, constantly retold to succeeding generations, did
little to dispel her fear. Besides the Sioux tribesmen
her husband was chumming around with were the
least tamed of the current breed.

One day a Sioux horseman rode up while Mary
Ellen Stouder was alone in her sod hut with her in-
fant, George. Without a word he picked up the baby
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and rode off with him. What could the terrified moth-
er think but that her childwould grow up as an adopted
son of the Sioux tribe? However, George was soon
brought back, and in 1890 returned to Fort Wayne
with his parents. Mrs. Stouder no longer wanted to
be a pioneer. So Jacob Stouder returned to his for-
mer job in the hardware store at 122 E. Columbia
Street, where he specialized in builders' hardware.
It was this business he was operating, with several
branch stores, at the time Little Turtle's grave was
found.

This feeling for the great Sioux leader was
unusual in itself, at the time and especially in that
locality. Sitting Bull's choice of his village was close
to the site of what was to be the last Indian battle in
United States history, the massacre of the Sioux vil-
lage on Wounded Knee Creek, on the border of South
Dakota and Nebraska. Sitting Bull had helped stir up
the Sioux in the anti-white ""Messiah" agitation which
led to the battle in 1890.

Many of the 200-300 dead and wounded were
Sioux women and children. The battle began when the
United States Cavalry tried to disarm the Indians who
had surrendered the day before. A concentrated fire
from the hand-cranked weapons, including the Hotch-
kiss machine guns (1878) ". . . developed primarily
for shipboard use, being chambered exclusively for
the large artillery type of cartridge, " was poured in-
to the tepees. About thirty white men were killed.
Some of the Indians froze to death on the ground the
next day.

Long after Sitting Bull had beenkilled by some
of Stouder's fellow Dakotans, Stouder, back in Fort
Wayne, continued to be intrigued with Indians. The
Stouder home at Spy Run and Elizabeth Street always
had Indian relics lying around. They were almost
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crowded out by two Fort Wayne artists, Joseph Dille,
and his son, Ralph Dille, although they were acces-
sible enough that visiting grandchildren might take an
interest in them. Among these relics was a large
war bonnet and a stick with feathers on it which used
to sit in the front parlor. Probably, J. M. Stouder
would not have objected to small fry trying on the
bonnet, but one's mother might have insisted it was
verminous.

Stouder also showed his interest in Indians by
attending all the Wild West shows that came to town
and going around afterward to talk with the visiting
Red men. On occasion he might even invite them to
come and visit him at his Spy Run domicile. Charles
Ashley, who used to live near Stouder, remembers
seeinghim coming along Spy Run Avenue accompanied
by the whole red-skinned contingent of the latest trav-
eling circus.

Probably Stouder was the only resident of Fort
Wayne who could speak the Sioux Indian language.
The author, personally, recalls Stouder, his grand-
father, trying to teach him how to say "Hello" and a
few other simple expressions in the Sioux language
when Stouder discovered him reading a Boy Scout
pamphlet in 1931 on Indian sign language.

When the city of Fort Wayne celebrated the
centennial of Indiana statehood with a pageant in Res-
ervoir Park on June 4-9, 1916, Stouder portrayed an
Indian. The J. M. Stouder collection of Indian me-
mentoes at the Ohio State Historical Museum in Col-
umbus, Ohio, still testifies to this interest.
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MAN OF VARIED INTERESTS

Among Jacob Stouder's other interests was the
Fort Wayne Art School. Some of his large collection
of paintings by Ralph Dille, local nineteenth century
artist, were put on display at the Rudisill School.
His home was built on the old Rudisill property. He
always said that the apple trees in the backyard were
planted by Johnny Appleseed.

Here inthe orchard, he would lookat the stars
through a telescope with a friend, Frank Mulligan,
who had made the telescope.

His passion for Burns' poetry which he could
quote at length, led to his acceptance as an honorary
Scotsman by the local Caledonian Society, which in-
vited him to attend its meetings.

His brother Frank's long connection in book-
ing theatrical attractions into the old Masonic Temple
Theatre and the Palace led to an acquaintance with
Peter Donald, Scotch comedian on the Old Keith cir-
cuit, and his wife, Meta Carson, both of whom al-
ways invited him on their trips to Fort Wayne. He
thought Donald was funnier than Harry Lauder.

Stouder was also acquainted with Martin and
Osa Johnson, the African adventurers, who had lec-
tured at the Old Temple Theatre. Like many in his
age bracket, he was an admirer of Anna Held. At
one time, a theatrical poster of that celebrated pin-
up girl occupied a prominent place in the parlor,
along with the paintings, Indian bonnets, sculpture,
and other bric-a-brac.

Jacob Stouder's father was Jacob H. Stouder,
a native of Lancaster, Pennsylvania, who had oper-
ated a railroaders®' hotel in Millersport, Ohio, and
the Edsall House, likewise a railroad man's hostelry,
at the southeast corner of Clinton and East Superior
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streets, Fort Wayne, where the Stouder family lived.
The elder Stouder had been an indentured farmer un-
til he was twenty-one, when he was given a written
release, $100.00, a suit of clothes, a gun, and a
horse.

Stouder's brother, Frank, was well-known as
manager of the old Masonic Temple and co-owner of
the Palace Theatre, now the Civic Theatre, which
was completed in 1915. A sister, Mrs. George Mc-
Lain, preceded Jacob to Dakota where the family re-
mained.

Jacob M. Stouder came from one of a long line
of Pennsylvania Swiss on both sides of his family.
They might have had some knowledge of Indians along
the Pennsylvania-Maryland border, not far from the
scene of pre-Revolutionary Indian wars. By the year
1790, there were three families of that name record-
ed in the first United States census.

Stouder was active in the local Masonic bodies.
Shortly before his death in 1932, he observed his fif-
tieth anniversary as a member of the Masonic Blue
Lodge. He was a past Master of Summit City Lodge,
No. 170, F. & A.M.; High Priest of Fort Wayne Chap-
ter, Royal Arch Masons; illustrious Master of Fort
Wayne Commandery No. 4, Knights Templar. He
was a member of the building committee of the Ma-
sonic Temple. During the depression years, he was
almoner of the Scottish Rite bodies in Fort Wayne.

He was, at one time, a member of the Allen
County Board of Children's Guardians and during the
first World War was a local representative of the
United States Department of Labor. During the ad-
ministration of William C. Geake, he served as a
councilman from the second ward. During his so-
journ in Dakota he served as a justice of the peace.

Jacob M. Stouder was born in Millersport,
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Ohio, March 8, 1861. Of the six children born to the
Stouders, the first died in infancy in the Dakota Ter-
ritory. His first wife died in 1923. He was married
to Elton Hedrick in 1925. His death occurred on Oc-

tober 13, 1932,

The J. M. Stouder Indian collection was ac=
quired by the Ohio Historical Society from the second
Mrs. Stouder, December 10, 1934. It included five
Indian pipes, dance leggins, three beaded pouches, a
gun case, blanket ornament, doll, sun dance whistle,
three pairs of moccasins, tomahawk, horn spoon,
three needle cases, an arrow, war bonnet and eagle
feathers, beads, arm and hair ornaments, turtle to-
tem, birchbarkand porcupine map (Penobscot), birch-
bark and porcupine model canoe (Penobscot), knife
case, and photographs of plains and western Indians
of the eighties. Also included were a portrait of Sit-
ting Bull by Paul Warner, and a portraitof Little Tur-
tle by Elmer Stewart.

Stouder's scrap-book containing some of his
historical notes on Wells, Whistler, and Hamtramck,
early Fort Wayne personalities, is also now in the
collection of the Allen County-Fort Wayne Historical
Society. A microfilm copy of his Little Turtle cor-
respondence with the Smithsonian Institution, is in
the possession of members of the Stouder family in
Fort Wayne.

Those who are concerned with the preserva-
tion of our goodly heritage never fail to stress the
importance of including Chief Little Turtle in any fu-
ture plan for a memorial in this locality.
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|LITTLE TURTLE’'S GRAVE VISITED—Shown kneeling at the grave of Chief Little Turtle is Miss

Mary Catherine Smeltzly through whose altruism the site of the Miami leader’s grave w111
soon beco . public park. The property at 634 Lawton Place (former home of Dr.
George W. ) where the grave is located has been purchased by Miss Smeltzly .
sented to the as a public park in the name of her deceased sister, Miss Eieanor S
and herself"fder the auspices of the Historical Society of Fort Wayne and Allen County.

house, shown in the background, is being torn down to make room for the park. The Smeltzly

sisters, two of Fort Wayne's most widely-traveled citizens, were history teachers in the public
school system here until retirement.

Little Turtle Grave Marker Dedicated

The grave of Chief Little Turtle, | tribution to the destiny of the|munity- Schools; Fred B. Shoaff,
peace-making Miami Indian of the|White anan, / president of the Board of Park
late 18th Century, was permanent- Paﬁllie%znriss ;wﬁ;.g\%;ﬁegy'rquiﬁf Comm.iss_i@lers, al?d Mrs. J. How-
ly marked yesterday afternoon president of the Allen County ard Wﬂkens president of the Al-
before 200 persons in outdoor|Counecil; Willard Shambaugh, len‘!(:ounty Fort Wayne Historical
ceremonies at 647 Lawton Place, |president of the Fort Wayne Com- Sod%

Reading the inscription on the :
new bronze marker was Miss|
Mary Catherine Smeltzly, a re-
tired history teacher who donate
the land to the city. The site

a house in 1912. The land was
purchased last year by Miss
Smeltzley. ”
SeDr: John W, Meister, pastor of
the First Presbyterian Church,
gave the principal address in
which he said, “Little Turtle is a
man worth remembering because
of his dedication to peace.” He
further said that the chieftain
should be appreciated for his con-

LITTLE TURTLE GAINS
scription on the new brg onze .
Little Turtle, is Miss

ndian chieffain,

: re' _red Central

High School history
647 Lawlon Place yes
The former ielche@w ed
fo the cily as a gmgxn"&rle

avors foward: peace should
ations.”
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GRAVE TO BECOME SHRINE—The obscure grave of Little Turtle,
chief of the Miami Nation, will become a Fort Wayne historical
shrine through negotfiations of Miss Catherine Smelizly and a
citizen group. The fop picture shows the backyard and part of
the residence ai 634 Lawton Pl. where the greai chief was in-

ferred, and below is a closeup of the grave marker. .’-The shrine

will be developed by the City Park Depariment under direction
of the Allen County-Fort Wayne Historical Society.
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